Supreme Court No. <u>Q1998</u>-4

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 71345-1-I

## COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION 1 OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CANDACE NOLL, individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of Donald Noll, Deceased,

Appellants,

v.

### SPECIAL ELECTRIC COMPANY, INC.,

Respondent,
American Biltrite, Inc., et al.,
Defendants.

### RESPONDENT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Michael B. King, WSBA No. 14405 Justin P. Wade, WSBA No. 41168 CARNEY BADLEY SPELLMAN, P.S. 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3600 Seattle, Washington 98104-7010 Telephone: (206) 622-8020 Facsimile: (206) 467-8215 Attorneys for Respondent Special Electric Company, Inc.

## **

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Special Electric Company, Inc. ("Special Electric") petitions for review of the Court of Appeals' decision identified in Section II.

#### II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Special Electric seeks review of the published decision terminating review in *Noll v. American Biltrite Inc.*, No. 71345-1-I, 2015 WL 3970580, issued by Division I of the Court of Appeals on June 29, 2015 (the "Decision") (copy attached as Appendix A).

#### III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

This case involves a claim of injury to a Washington resident alleged to have arisen out of on-the-job exposure to asbestos in Washington caused by cutting into asbestos-containing cement pipe. A nonresident broker supplied asbestos to a nonresident manufacturer of the pipe, and that manufacturer subsequently sold the pipe into Washington. The nonresident broker was sued in Washington for injuries allegedly caused by the asbestos exposure in Washington. The plaintiff alleged that Washington courts could exercise specific personal jurisdiction over the broker. A trial court dismissed based on lack of personal jurisdiction, and the Court of Appeals reversed. This dismissal gives rise to the following issue:

May Washington courts exercise specific personal jurisdiction over the nonresident broker, when the plaintiff has no evidence that the broker was aware that the manufacturer was selling pipe into Washington which contained the broker's asbestos? For the reasons set forth in Section V of this Petition, this issue warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and 13.4(b)(4).

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Nolls filed a complaint for personal injuries against Defendant and Petitioner Special Electric and several other defendants in King County. CP 1. The Nolls claimed that Donald Noll was exposed to asbestos-containing products from approximately 1958 through 1988 and that the exposure caused Mr. Noll to develop mesothelioma. CP 2-5. Mrs. Noll filed an amended complaint asserting wrongful death and survival claims following Mr. Noll's death from mesothelioma, which occurred after the trial court dismissed Special Electric. <sup>1</sup>

The Nolls alleged that the defendants, including Special Electric, "mined, manufactured, produced, and/or placed into the stream of commerce" asbestos products. CP 2. The Nolls claimed that jurisdiction was proper "pursuant to RCW 4.12.025 because . . . defendants transacted business and/or may be served with process in Pierce County, Washington." CP 2.<sup>2</sup> The Nolls *did not* allege whether Special Electric knew or expected (*i.e.*, whether Special was aware) that the products it

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Special Electric attributes the actions taken by the Nolls as plaintiffs in the trial court to "the Nolls," and Special Electric will attribute actions taken by Mrs. Noll, as the plaintiff-respondent, to "Mrs. Noll."

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  The reference to Pierce County appears to be erroneous since the Nolls filed their lawsuit in King County. The Nolls invoked only RCW 4.12.025, a statute related to venue, in their complaint and not the long-arm statute. See CP 2.

supplied would be incorporated into other products that would then be sold into Washington. CP 1-5.3

The Nolls' exposure claims against Special Electric arose only out of Mr. Noll's alleged exposure in Washington to asbestos from CertainTeed asbestos-cement pipe, between 1977 and March 1979. CP 101 (opposition to motion to dismiss), CP 311 (Mr. Noll's testimony). Mr. Noll testified that he cut asbestos-cement piping or worked around others cutting the same while working for the contractor Tom Lupo Construction. CP 311-12. Mr. Noll performed the work for Tom Lupo Construction in Port Orchard. CP 311.

Special Electric is a Wisconsin corporation that performed business in Wisconsin and in states east of Wisconsin starting in July 1957. CP 44. The Nolls submitted evidence relating to an alleged connection between Special Electric and two entities known as "Special Materials Co." and "Special Asbestos Co." For the purposes of moving to dismiss Nolls' complaint only, Special Electric did not dispute that Special Electric shared a corporate identity with Special Materials Co. and Special Asbestos Co. CP 244. Special Materials was principally a brokering firm — it acted as a seller for mining companies, including General Mining and Calaveras Asbestos Company. CP 227, 235.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Nolls did allege that every defendant "transacted business" in Washington, *see* CP 2 (§ II, "jurisdiction"), but they later abandoned any claim of general jurisdiction when opposing Special Electric's motion to dismiss.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Special Electric does not concede there was an alter ego relationship between it and Special Materials or Special Asbestos. Special Electric also does not concede whether Mr. Noll was exposed to any asbestos fibers allegedly supplied by Special Materials, Special Asbestos, or Special Electric. CP 244.

The Nolls claimed that Special Electric was responsible for supplying asbestos to CertainTeed between 1975 and 1981. Treating the allegations in the complaint as established and resolving all factual inferences in favor of the plaintiff, the Court of Appeals concluded that "the record showed that Special supplied asbestos to a CertainTeed manufacturing plant in Santa Clara, California[,]" and that "CertainTeed used the asbestos to make pipe that it shipped to Washington in substantial quantities." Decision at 4.5

CertainTeed had five asbestos-cement pipe plants located in various places in the United States, but there was no evidence Special Electric knew the reach of any plant's zone of distribution. There was no evidence that Special Electric knew whether CertainTeed had a nationwide distribution network for asbestos-cement pipe, nor evidence that Special Electric knew about CertainTeed's channels of sales. As the Court of Appeals acknowledged, Special Electric "may not have actually known that its asbestos was ending up in Washington as a component of pipe." Decision at 2. In fact, the Nolls did not present any evidence to show that Special Electric was aware that CertainTeed was selling asbestos-containing pipe into Washington.

Special Electric moved to dismiss the Nolls' complaint for lack of personal jurisdiction. The trial court granted the motion, citing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> While Special Electric reserves the right to contest the facts alleged in the complaint, it does not challenge the characterization of those facts by the Court of Appeals for the purposes of this petition for review.

J. McIntyre Machinery Ltd. v. Nicastro, \_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_, 131 S. Ct. 2780, 180L. Ed. 2d 765 (2011). Mrs. Noll appealed.

The Court of Appeals reversed. Despite its holding that "the record does not prove Special had actual knowledge that CertainTeed distributed its pipe outside California[,]" the Court of Appeals nonetheless held that Special Electric *purposefully directed* its activities *at* Washington and accepted the benefits of Washington law. The Court of Appeals relied on two factors to support this conclusion: its own characterization of Special's product as a "known hazardous material" and CertainTeed's regular shipments of pipe to Washington alleged to contain asbestos supplied by Special Electric. Decision at 11, 13.

#### V. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

This Court should accept review to correct the Court of Appeals' unduly expansive interpretation of the stream-of-commerce doctrine of personal jurisdiction. There is no basis for personal jurisdiction under that doctrine where there is no evidence that the defendant has any awareness that its product will be carried by that "stream" into the forum state. Here, the plaintiff offered no evidence that Special Electric had any awareness that any pipe manufactured by CertainTeed containing Special's asbestos was sold by CertainTeed into Washington; the plaintiff offered evidence of a regular flow of CertainTeed products into Washington but no evidence that Special had any awareness of that flow. As for the "hazardous material" factor relied on by the Court of Appeals: a majority of the United States Supreme Court has declined to endorse hazardousness

as a factor that somehow should relieve a plaintiff of the requirement to show awareness that the defendant's product has made its way into the forum state.

# A. The Due Process Clause limits Washington's authority to exercise personal jurisdiction over nonresident defendants.

"The Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment sets the outer boundaries of a state tribunal's authority to proceed against a defendant." *Goodyear Dunlap Tire Operations, S.A. v. Brown*, \_\_ U.S. \_\_, 131 S. Ct. 2846, 2853, 180 L. Ed. 2d 796 (2011). And while Washington's long-arm statute, RCW 4.28.185, provides the relevant statutory standards for the exercise of personal jurisdiction, the reach of the long-arm statute may not extend further than the bounds set by Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution. *See Shute v. Carnival Cruise Lines*, 113 Wn.2d 763, 766, 783 P.2d 78 (1989).

A court may exercise either general or specific personal jurisdiction over a nonresident defendant. *See Goodyear*, 131 S. Ct. at 2851. General jurisdiction to hear any and all claims against a nonresident defendant is proper where the defendant's "continuous corporate operations within a state [are] so substantial and of such a nature as to justify suit against it on causes of action arising from dealings entirely distinct from those activities." *Daimler AG v. Bauman*, \_\_ U.S. \_\_, 134 S. Ct. 746, 754-55, 187 L. Ed. 2d 624 (2014) (alterations in original), quoting *Int'l Shoe Co. v. Wash.*, 326 U.S. 310, 318, 66 S. Ct. 154, 90

L. Ed. 2d 95 (1945). For example, in *Goodyear*, the Supreme Court rejected the North Carolina Supreme Court's reliance on the defendant's placement of the tires in the stream of commerce to exercise general jurisdiction over the foreign defendants, because such reasoning elided the difference between general and specific jurisdiction. *Goodyear*, \_\_ U.S. \_\_, 131 S. Ct. at 2854-55. General jurisdiction, however, is not at issue in this case, because there is no basis for finding the Special Electric was essentially at home in Washington and because the Nolls did not attempt to establish general jurisdiction before the trial court or argue in favor of it on appeal.

## B. Minimum contacts are not present unless the defendant has purposefully directed activities at the forum state.

"When a controversy is related to or 'arises out of' a defendant's contacts with the forum, the United States Supreme Court has said that a 'relationship among the defendant, the forum, and the litigation' is the essential foundation of in personam jurisdiction." *Helicopteros Nacionales de Colombia S.A. v. Hall*, 466 U.S. 408, 414, 104 S. Ct. 1868, 80 L. Ed. 2d 404 (1984), quoting *Shaffer v. Heitner*, 433 U.S. 186, 204, 97 S. Ct. 2569, 53 L. Ed. 2d 683 (1977). Courts therefore examine the following three elements to determine if the exercise of specific jurisdiction satisfies due process:

(1) that purposeful 'minimum contacts' exist between the defendant and the forum state; (2) that the plaintiff's injuries 'arise out of or relate to' those minimum contacts; and (3) that the exercise of jurisdiction be reasonable, that is, that jurisdiction be consistent with notions of 'fair play and substantial justice.'

Grange Ins. Ass'n v. State, 110 Wn.2d 752, 758, 757 P.2d 933 (1988), citing Burger King Corp. v. Rudzewick, 471 U.S. 462, 472-78, 105 S. Ct. 2174, 85 L. Ed. 2d 528 (1985).

"The Due Process Clause protects an individual's liberty interest in not being subject to the binding judgments of a forum with which he has established no meaningful 'contacts, ties, or relations." *Burger King*, 471 U.S. at 471-72, quoting *Int'l Shoe Co.*, 326 U.S. at 319. The "essential" rule is that "in each case ... there must be some act by which the defendant purposefully avails itself of the privilege of conducting activities within the forum state, thus invoking the benefits and protection of its laws." *Hanson v. Deckla*, 357 U.S. 235, 253, 78 S. Ct. 1228, 2 L. Ed. 2d 1283 (1958), citing *Int'l Shoe Co.*, 326 U.S. at 319.

Minimum contacts are established where the defendant has "purposefully directed' his activities at residents of the forum." *Burger King*, 471 U.S. at 472 (citation omitted). That "requirement ensures that a defendant will not be haled into a jurisdiction solely as a result of 'random,' 'fortuitous,' or 'attenuated' contacts." *Id*, 471 U.S. at 475 (citations omitted; emphasis added). "Jurisdiction is proper 'where the contacts proximately result from actions by the defendant *himself* that create a 'substantial connection' with the forum State." *Id*. (emphasis in original; citation omitted).

1. The United States Supreme Court in World-Wide Volkswagen limited the stream-of-commerce doctrine, holding that the exercise of personal jurisdiction under that doctrine is appropriate only if the defendant expects that products delivered into the stream of commerce will be purchased in the forum state.

In World-Wide Volkswagen v. Woodson, the Supreme Court held that the foreseeability that a product sold by a nonresident defendant could cause injury in the forum State has never been, by itself, a "sufficient benchmark for personal jurisdiction under the Due Process Clause." 444 U.S. 286, 295, 100 S. Ct. 559, 62 L. Ed. 2d 490 (1980). The Supreme Court held that the foreseeability that is critical to the due process analysis "is not the mere likelihood that a product will find its way into the forum State." World-Wide Volkswagen, 444 U.S. at 297. Instead, the focus of the inquiry is whether "the defendant's conduct and connection with the forum State are such that he should reasonably anticipate being haled into court there." Id. (emphasis added) (citations omitted). This is crucial to the due process interests at stake, for when a company has "clear notice that it is subject to suit" in the forum State it can act to "alleviate" the risks of litigation there by, for example, "severing its connection with the State." Id. (emphasis added).

If the sale of a manufacturer or distributor's product "is not simply an isolated occurrence, but arises from the efforts of the manufacturer or distributor to serve directly or indirectly, the market for its product in other States, it is not unreasonable to subject it to suit in one of those States[.]" *World-Wide Volkswagen*, 444 U.S. at 297. "The forum state

does not exceed its powers under the Due Process Clause if it asserts personal jurisdiction over a corporation that delivers its products into the stream of commerce with the expectation that they will be purchased by consumers in the forum State." World-Wide Volkswagen, 444 U.S. at 297-98 (emphasis added), "cf." citation to Gray v. Am. Radiator & Standard Sanitary Corp., 22 Ill.2d 432, 176 N.E.2d 761 (1961). Thus, in acknowledging the stream-of-commerce doctrine, the Court also limited its reach by condoning jurisdiction only where the nonresident defendant expects that contacts with the forum state would result from the act of placing goods into the stream of commerce.

2. The United States Supreme Court in Asahi Metal Industry clarified that establishing such expectation requires, at a minimum, that the nonresident defendant be aware that the stream of commerce will sweep its product into the forum state.

The Supreme Court revisited the stream-of-commerce test in Asahi Metal Industry Co., Ltd. v. Superior Court, a case that presented the question of "whether the mere awareness on the part of the foreign defendant that the components it manufactured, sold, and delivered outside the United States would reach the forum State in the stream of commerce constitutes 'minimum contacts' between the defendant and the forum State[.]" 480 U.S. 102, 105, 107 S. Ct. 1026, 94 L. Ed. 2d 92 (1987). In Asahi, a plurality of four justices would have held that as "long as a participant in this process [i.e., the "regular and anticipated flow" of products from manufacture to distribution to retail sale] is aware that the

final product is being marketed in the forum State, the possibility of a lawsuit there cannot come as a surprise." See Asahi Metal Indus., 480 U.S. at 117 (Brennan, J., with White, Marshall, and Blackmun, JJ., concurring in part and in the judgment) (emphasis added). Another plurality of four justices would have required an additional showing of conduct directed toward the forum State -- something more than mere awareness that the stream of commerce may or will sweep the product into the forum State. See Asahi Metal Indus., 480 U.S. at 112-13 (plurality opinion of O'Connor, J., with Rehnquist, C.J., Powell and Scalia, JJ.,) ("[F]or example, designing the product for the market in the forum State, advertising in the forum State, establishing channels for providing advice to customers in the forum State, or marketing the product through a distributor who has agreed to serve as the sales agent in the forum State."). There was no holding resolving the issue because the ninth member of the Court -- Justice Stevens -- concluded, in voting to find personal jurisdiction should not be exercised, that the issue did not need to be resolved. See Asahi Metal Indus., 480 U.S. at 121-22 (Stevens, J., with White and Blackmun, JJ., concurring in part and concurring in the judgment).

Although the *Asahi* opinions were splintered on the issue of minimum contacts, there is at least one principle that commanded a majority: Under both the narrow and broad approaches advocated by Justice O'Connor and Justice Brennan respectively, the United States Supreme Court would have required, at a minimum, the defendant's *awareness* that a distribution system will sweep its product to the forum

State. Compare Asahi Metal Indus., 480 U.S. at 117, 121 (Brennan, J., concurring) (stating that the facts found by the California court supported a finding of minimum contacts where the defendant was aware of the operation of the distribution system that carried its product to California, and "knew that it would benefit" from sales there) (emphasis added) with Asahi Metal Indus., 480 U.S. at 111-12 (plurality opinion of O'Connor, J., concurring) (defendant's mere awareness that its products would be incorporated into products sold in California would not have been sufficient basis to demonstrate purposeful availment without "something more").

3. The United States Supreme Court's decision in J. McIntyre does not support a holding that a raw material components supplier may be sued anywhere the distribution system carries the finished product, without at least awareness that this will be the outcome under that distribution system.

The Supreme Court attempted to resolve its differing conceptions of the stream-of-commerce doctrine in *J. McIntyre Machinery, Ltd., v. Nicastro*, \_\_ U.S. \_\_, 131 S. Ct. 2780, 180 L. Ed. 2d 765 (2011). There, a New Jersey resident was injured by a machine manufactured by a British manufacturer and sold to the United States market by an independent Ohio-based distributer. The plaintiff's New Jersey employer bought a single machine from the American distributor. The English manufacturer attended trade shows in the United States, but not in New Jersey. Six justices of the Supreme Court found that due process prohibited the New

Jersey court from exercising personal jurisdiction over the British manufacturer.

A plurality of four justices led by Justice Kennedy would have held that the British manufacturer did not engage in conduct purposefully directed at New Jersey. The three key facts relied on by the plaintiff — that a distributor agreed to sell the machines in the United States; that officials for the defendant attended trade shows in several other states, but not New Jersey; and that up to four machines ended up in New Jersey—revealed only an intent to serve the United States market without showing that the British Manufacturer purposefully availed itself of the New Jersey market. *See McIntyre*, \_\_ U.S. \_\_, 131 S. Ct. at 2790-91 (plurality opinion of Kennedy, J., with Roberts, C.J., Scalia and Thomas, JJ., concurring). The Justice Kennedy plurality would have set in place jurisdictional rules based on actions, not expectations. *Id.* at 2789.

Justice Breyer, joined by Justice Alito, agreed that the New Jersey court could not exercise personal jurisdiction, but insisted that the case should be resolved based on existing precedent instead of refashioning jurisdictional rules. *McIntyre*, \_\_ U.S. \_\_, 131 S. Ct. at 2793 (Breyer, J., concurring in the judgment, joined by Alito, J.). Justice Breyer *rejected* "the absolute approach adopted by the New Jersey Supreme Court" that "a producer is subject to jurisdiction for a products-liability action so long as it 'knows or reasonably should know that its products are distributed through a nationwide distribution system that *might* lead to those products being sold in any of the fifty states." *McIntyre*, \_\_ U.S. \_\_, 131 S. Ct. at

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