RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Aug 27, 2015, 2:09 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 91998-4

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CANDANCE NOLL, Individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of Donald Noll, Deceased,

Respondent,

v.

SPECIAL ELECTRIC COMPANY, INC.,

Petitioner,

American Biltrite, Inc., et al.,

Defendants.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

BRIAN D. WEINSTEIN BENJAMIN R. COUTURE Attorneys for Respondent

WEINSTEIN COUTURE PLLC 818 Stewart Street, Suite 930 Seattle, Washington 98101 Telephone: (206) 508-7070 Facsimile: (206) 237-8650

Office ID Number: 91124

I. INTRODUCTION

Defendant-Petitioner Special Electric Company, Inc. ("Special") petitions this Court to review of the decision of the Court of Appeals reversing the trial court's order of dismissal, and holding that the trial court erred by following the plurality opinion in *J. McIntyre Machinery*, *Ltd. v. Nicastro*, --U.S.--, 131 S. Ct. 2780 (2011) in ruling that exercising personal jurisdiction over Special required a showing that it had "targeted" the State of Washington. *See Noll v. American Biltrite, Inc.*, --P.3d--, 2015 WL 3970580 (Wash. App. 6/29/2015) (referenced herein as "*Noll Dec.*").

This Court grants review only if one or more of the conditions in RAP 13.4(b) are met. Special has failed to identify any other Court of Appeals decisions or decision of this Court with which the Court of Appeals' decision here conflicts. It has likewise failed to show that any significant question of constitutional law exists or that this case involves any issue of public interest. Accordingly, Plaintiff-Respondent Candace Noll respectfully submits that Special's *Petition for Review* be denied.

II. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Special phrases the one and only issue as to which it seeks review as follows: "May Washington courts exercise specific personal jurisdiction over the nonresident broker, when the plaintiff has no evidence that the broker was aware that the manufacturer was selling pipe into Washington

which contained the broker's asbestos?" *Pet. for Rev.*, p. 1. As indicated by Special's *Petition* as a whole and its arguments to the Court of Appeals, such issue is more accurately stated thusly: Does exercising personal jurisdiction require *direct* evidence of the defendant's *subjective actual* knowledge that its products are being sold in the forum State, *in addition* to plaintiff's evidence of a substantial, regular flow of such products into that State? *See Noll Dec.*, ¶24, at *6 ("Special claims that even when a steady current of sales carries a product such as asbestos-cement pipe into the forum state, personal jurisdiction over the asbestos supplier depends on the supplier's *actual knowledge* that the asbestos would ultimately arrive in the forum state as a component") (*emphasis added*).

Special also filed a Motion to Accelerate Consideration of Petition for Review, in which it asks this Court to take this case under review because it supposedly raises issues that significantly overlap with those already under review in State v. LG Electronics, Inc., 185 Wn. App. 394, 341 P.3d 346 (2015), petition for review granted, No. 91391-9 (Wash. June 3, 2015).

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

There is no dispute as to the facts here. Indeed, Special has expressly accepted "the characterization of those facts by the Court of Appeals for the purposes of this petition for review." *Pet. for Rev.*, p. 4, fn.

5. According to the Court of Appeals, "the record shows that Special supplied asbestos to a CertainTeed manufacturing plant in Santa Clara, California[, and] CertainTeed used the asbestos to make pipe that it shipped into Washington in substantial quantities." *Noll Dec.*, ¶8, at *2. Plaintiff's Decedent, Donald Noll, was exposed to that asbestos in Washington while working with and around CertainTeed asbestos pipe between 1977 and 1979. *Id.*, ¶2, at *1. Based upon Plaintiff's evidence in the record detailing the quantity of Special's asbestos moving into Washington, the Court of Appeals concluded, that "Special regularly supplied raw asbestos for the manufacture of pipe that moved into Washington through established channels of sale." *Id.*, ¶10, *2. More specifically, the Court of Appeals found:

According to shipping invoices, the Santa Clara plant sent at least 55,000 linear feet of asbestos-cement pipe to buyers in Washington between 1977 and 1979, through at least 31 discrete shipments....During that time period, Special supplied approximately 95 percent of the asbestos used at CertainTeed's Santa Clara plant....In December 1977, Special contracted to supply CertainTeed's pipe division with approximately 4000 tons of blue asbestos per year from 1978 until 1983....Special arranged for 1,018 tons of blue asbestos obtained from General Mining to be delivered to CertainTeed's Santa Clara plant between 1977 and 1979.

Id., ¶¶8-9, at *2.

In the trial court, Special asserted and the trial court agreed that the matter was controlled by the plurality opinion in *J. McIntyre Machinery*,

which would require evidence that a defendant knowingly "targeted" the forum State. The trial court granted Special's motion to dismiss on that basis See Noll Dec., ¶18, *4. After the Court of Appeals decision in State v. AU Optronics Corp., 180 Wn. App. 903, 328 P.3d 919 (2014), Special was compelled to abandon its "targeting" argument and concede that Justice Breyer's concurrence is controlling. See Noll Dec., ¶19, at *4 ("Justice Breyer's...concurring opinion is controlling because it resolved the issue on narrower grounds than the plurality's") (citing AU Optronics, 180 Wn. App. at 919). Special shifted its focus instead to the new argument, which it had not advanced before the trial court, that exercising personal jurisdiction requires direct evidence of the defendant's actual, subjective knowledge. The Court of Appeals rejected that novel argument:

The governing precedents do not require a plaintiff to prove a component supplier's actual knowledge of the manufacturer's plans to ship finished product into the forum state. AU Optronics, World-Wide Volkswagen Corp., and Justice Breyer's concurrence in J. McIntyre require objective facts evidencing a regular flow or regular course of sales by which the product enters the forum state....

¶25, at *6.

As noted and as found by the Court of Appeals, Plaintiff provided detailed evidence establishing the required "objective facts evidencing a regular flow or regular course of sales by which" Special's asbestos entered Washington to injure Mr. Noll, a Washington resident, in

Washington. Special does not challenge the sufficiency of Plaintiff's evidence in that respect. It now asserts only that Plaintiff must prove actual knowledge in addition to the regular flow of tons of Special's asbestos into Washington via established channels in the stream of commerce.

IV. REASONS THAT REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Special's *Petition* fails to state any grounds pursuant to RAP 13.4(b) that would justify review by this Court. It cannot specifically identify any decision by this Court or the Washington Court of Appeals with which the Court of Appeals' decision here supposedly conflicts. It cannot articulate a *significant question* of constitutional import beyond complaining that its due process rights are being violated. If such protestations were enough to satisfy RAP 13.4(b), this Court would find itself in the business of reviewing every contested exercise of personal jurisdiction because every such exercise necessarily touches upon due process. Not every application of established due process law warrants such review. There must be a genuine unresolved legal question of sufficient importance to invoke this Court's involvement.

(1)

Special's Unprecedented 'Actual Knowledge' Theory Is Not a Matter Worthy of Further Review

Special's 'actual knowledge' theory raises no such significant question and was properly rejected. Inventing a creative, but unprecedented theory does not suffice to invoke this Court's review—especially where, as here, such theory was not even presented to the trial court. More important, Special cannot identify a single decision anywhere actually supporting its 'actual knowledge' theory—the one and only point as to which it seeks further review. Rather, its theory rests upon overemphasizing words or phrases from various decisions, while ignoring their actual holdings.

No Washington decision requires proof of actual knowledge. In *AU Optronics Corp.*, the Court of Appeals held that the defendant was subject to jurisdiction where the State had shown the regular flow of the its LCD panels into Washington as components of computer monitors and televisions sold to consumers within the State. *See* 180 Wn. App. at 924-25. It was the large, regular volume of sales within the state, rather than defendant's subjectively awareness of such sales, that established minimum contacts. *Id.* Thus, as the Court of Appeals correctly held here, it is the objective facts concerning how the defendant chooses to sell its components and the actual sales that flow from such choice that are

important for minimum contacts, not the defendant's claims about what it knew or did not know. See Noll Dec., ¶25, at *6. See also Barone v. Rich Bros. Interstate Display Fireworks Co., 25 F.3d 610, 611-12 (8th Cir. 1994) (rejecting the defendant's claims that it was not aware of regular sales into the forum as "willful ignorance"); Russell v. SNFA, 987 N.E.2d 778, 793 & 797 (Ill. 2013) (upholding jurisdiction without requiring direct evidence that defendant had "specific knowledge of the final destination" of its tail-rotor bearings" based upon objective facts demonstrating "multiple sales of its products in Illinois"); Sproul v. Rob & Charles, Inc., 304 P.3d 18, 29 (N.M. App. 2012) (simply and expressly rejected any test that required direct proof of a defendant's actual, subjective knowledge).

Likewise, no United States Supreme Court precedent requires direct evidence of actual knowledge. Rather, these decisions look to whether there is objective evidence of a substantial, regular flow of the product in question as opposed to isolated or random sales. For example, in *World-Wide Volkswagen Corp. v. Woodson*, 444 U.S. 286, 297 (1980), a decision relied-upon here, the Court expressly stated "if the sale of a product of a manufacturer ... is not an isolated occurrence, but arises from the efforts of the manufacturer or distributor to serve directly or indirectly, the market for its product in other States, it is not unreasonable to subject

it to suit in one of those States if its allegedly defective merchandise causes injury there."

In Asahi Metal Industry Co. v. Superior Court, 480 U.S. 102, 117 (1987), a group of four justices, led by Justice Brennan, held that minimum contacts may be established by demonstrating a regular flow of the defendant's products into the forum state. A second plurality, led by Justice O'Connor, held that minimum contacts may be established by placing products into the stream of commerce provided there is "something more," such as state-specific design or advertising. 480 U.S. at 112. Justice Stevens, joined by two other justices in a separate concurrence, opined that whether a regular course of dealing may establish minimum contacts should be viewed in light of multiple factors including, "the volume, the value, and the hazardous nature of the components." 480 U.S. at 122.

In *J. McIntyre Machinery*, the Court was again unable to reach any clear consensus regarding the standard for establishing minimum contacts in a stream-of-commerce case. Justice Breyer, in a concurring opinion, wrote that case could be decided by resort to the Court's precedents and without announcing any new rule of law. *See* 131 S.Ct. at 2792. The plaintiff did not show any "regular flow" or "regular course" of sales of the defendant's products in New Jersey. *Id.* (referencing Justice Brennan's

and Justice Stevens' opinions in *Asahi*, 480 U.S. at 117, 122). Likewise, the plaintiff failed to show "something more" than placement of a product in the stream of commerce." *Id.* (citing Justice O'Connor's plurality opinion in *Asahi*, 480 U.S at 112). In short, the single sale of an injury-causing product into the forum was insufficient to establish minimum purposeful contacts under *World-Wide Volkswagen*. *Id*.

The Court of Appeals here followed the approach taken by Justice Breyer and held that Mrs. Noll had demonstrated minimum contacts through at least one of the approaches described in *Asahi* (i.e., by demonstrating a "regular flow" of Special Electric's products into Washington). *See Noll Dec.*, ¶22, at *5. Special, after taking the opposite position in the trial court, was forced to concede that Justice Breyer's opinion in *J. McIntyre Machinery* is the current controlling precedent. It does not now claim that the Court of Appeals erred in applying that precedent. Nor does Special deny that Plaintiff's evidence establishes the requisite "regular flow." Rather, Special attempts to create an issue where none exists by pulling words such as "aware" and "expectation" out of context from these various opinions. Yet, it cannot cite to a single case—federal, Washington or otherwise—in which the regular flow of the defendant's product into the forum was held insufficient to establish

minimum contacts because the plaintiff had not come forward with direct evidence of defendant's subjective, actual knowledge.

(2)
The Court of Appeals Did Not Improperly Rely
Upon the Hazardous Nature of Special's Asbestos

Special argues that the Court of Appeals improperly considered the hazardous nature of Special's asbestos in holding that jurisdiction is proper here. The Court simply noted that this was "one of the factors mentioned by Justice Stevens in *Asahi* as affecting the jurisdictional inquiry." *Noll Dec.*, ¶22, at *5. It did not "rely" on such factor, but expressly and unequivocally rested its decision upon the regular flow of sales into Washington, stating:

Special's asbestos was supplied for use in making large quantities of pipe to be distributed through existing channels of interstate commerce, including channels regularly flowing into the State of Washington. It is the regular flow or course of sales that distinguishes the facts here from the facts of *J. McIntyre*. A plaintiff is not required to prove both a regular flow *and* "something more."

Id. (emphasis by court). See also Id. at ¶25, at *6 (volume of Special's shipments of asbestos to Santa Clara and volume of CertainTeed's pipe shipments to Washington suffices to establish purposeful availment).

(3)

This Court's Accepting Review of Review in LG Electronics Neither Compels nor Warrants Taking this Case

Finally, Special Electric claims that acceptance of review is necessary to avoid confusion because this Court has accepted review in *LG Electronics*. Said assertion is just a thinly veiled attempt to ride the coattails of review in *LG Electronics* by exaggerating general parallels between two fundamentally dissimilar matters. These matters are similar only in the broadest sense that both involve stream-of-commerce jurisdiction. Special even acknowledges that, in *LG Electronics*, "[t]he Court of Appeals held that the defendants 'understood that third parties would sell products containing their CRT component parts throughout the United States, including large numbers of those products in Washington." *Pet. for Rev.*, p. 19 (emphasis by Special). Thus, it fully admits that the only issue it raises for review here is a nonissue in *LG Electronics*.

Special attempts to bootstrap this matter under *LG Electronics* by claiming that its 'actual knowledge' theory is some sort of predicate to the issues raised there, which it is not. One issue raised in *LG Electronics* is whether an *allegation*, that a defendant 'was aware' that its component would come to Washington, suffices *alone* to confer jurisdiction. The issue for which Special seeks review in the case at bar is whether asserting jurisdiction requires direct evidence of a defendant material supplier's

actual knowledge concerning the manufacture's distribution scheme, in addition to uncontroverted evidence showing a regular flow of the offending material into Washington through established channels in the stream of commerce. Although these issues are related to some degree, resolution of one does not inevitably compel the decision as to the other such that they must be considered in tandem.

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